St Saviour’s Church Biannual Commemmoration Talk. 13/Sept/2013
             COPYRIGHT – Roland Spottiswoode. Published with Permission.

The Church at Connor,

The two-hundredth anniversary of the church of St. Saviour’s at Connor 

and the sixteen centuries of continuous worship on the site.

· Introduction: the church we are in tonight.

· Connor and the early church, the see of Connor

· Medieval Kells and Connor, Down and Connor

· The Reformation and the 16th century

· James I and the restoration of the see of Down and Connor

· Rebellion and Restoration, the cathedral moved to Lisburn, the eighteenth century

· The re-building of the church by Bishop Alexander

· Revs Fitzgerald and Carmoday

· Twentieth Century Connor

This St. Saviour’s where we are seated tonight is the most recent church building on a site where churches have stood continuously since St MacNessi established a monastery here during the lifetime of  St Patrick. The Church building at Connor has gone through many changes since that time, but then so has the Church of Ireland for which it has provided a place of worship. From its original form, as a Celtic Christianity with many usages that differed from those common in Britain and Europe, the Irish church was brought into conformity with European practice through the religious reforms of St Malachy, himself a Bishop of Connor. A great Romanesque church building erected on this spot during Malachys time became one of the cathedrals of the Bishopric of Down and Connor. After the ruinous wars of the Elizabethan invasion a surviving portion of this cathedral became firstly the cathedral of a reconstituted see of the reformed church and then the local parish church for Connor. Two hundred years ago this year a portion of the great Cathedral was rebuilt, and became the body of the church we are in today.  Tonight I will attempt to give you something of an outline of this history.

CONNOR AND THE EARLY CHURCH

The History of Connor Church properly begins with St. MacNissi, (Oenghus Breac Coemán Mac Nissi)
, who founded his monastery on this site circa 480AD/CE. The Monastery and its place of retreat, the Hermitage at Kells were built close to where an ancient road forded the Kellswater. This road was the slighe miodhluachra, one of the five royal roads of ancient Ireland, which ran from Tara (Teamhair an Rí) to Dunseverick (Dún Sbhairce) on the northern coast. 

Angus MacNissi had been consecrated Bishop of the territory of his own clan, the Dal Ceithirn,
 by St. Patrick. McNissi is described as a disciple of St Olcan of Armoy, and seems to have lived as a solitary hermit here before he was inspired to develop his religious community. Interestingly, MacNissi’s name, “the son of Nessa,”
 is formed from the name of his mother, rather than that of his father, Forbach. This matrilineal form is customarily Pictish or Cruthan. However, his father is not without local record. Two of the ogam stones discovered at Carncome in the nineteenth century record Forbach as the father of the person whose burial they record. MacNissi appears to have undertaken his ministry at his own place of birth. 

Any of you who have seen the remains of Nendrum on Strangford Lough will be able to form impression of what his monastery may have looked like. Several circles of walls  were built concentrically around an original church that stood at the very heart of the monastery. This Church almost certainly stood in the general vicinity of where St Saviour’s now stands. The areas contained by the outer concentric walls held the monks’ cells and the monk’s various places of work and of teaching and of healing. At some point after 800ad a high cross was erected within the inner circle.  A  lower portion of this High Cross is still preserved here in the north transept of the church. Over where the Church hall now stands, somewhere near the south west corner of that building, a round tower stood.  

In an arrangement common within the early Celtic church the ‘Coarb’, or hereditary abbot of the monastery held the double office as both Abbot and Bishop of the diocese. The Coarb was regarded as the direct heir of the founder of the monastery, and at this early period would be chosen from among the founder’s own kindred. The monastery and the subsiduary Hermitage at Kells would have been a very important part of the power base the founder’s family and of their local clan. These offices of Bishop and abbot only began to be separated with the eleventh century reforms of St Malachy.

Early in its existence Connor became the burial place of  an early king of Ireland.  Diarmait mac Cerbaill was interred here after his death at the Battle of Rath–beag in 558. The first Abbey at Kells was burned during an inter-tribal conflict 44 years after Rath-Beag, in 612.  In 781 Connor was used as a base of operations by the invading Danes, and was again destroyed by the victorious Irish when the Danes were driven out of the settlement. 

In 1124 Malachy O’Morgain was appointed Bishop of Connor. Malachy was already a seasoned reformer. As Abbot of Bangor earlier in his career he had striven to restore the ecclesiastical discipline of the western church to the abbey in his charge. As bishop of Connor and later as Archbishop of Armagh, Malachy was able to exert his authority to bring about very necessary reforms to an Irish Church that had grown lax during the unsettled times of the Viking incursions.  Malachy had brought the Augustinian Canons to Downpatrick and the presence of the Augustinian order at Kells almost certainly dates from his reforms. The Romanesque Abbey at Kells may have begun construction at this period, replacing the older buildings of the abbey of St Mary’s of the Desert. 

 Another great structure, the sizable Romanesque cathedral on the site where St. Saviour’s now stands, may also have been one of the buildings started during St Malachy’s tenure as Bishop of Connor. Despite European influences, its layout and decoration certainly appear to have pre-dated the Normans. According to Fitzgerald’s account, both the Cathedral and the abbey were decorated richly with Celtic carving.
 

MEDAEVAL KELLS AND CONNOR, DOWN AND CONNOR
By the eleventh century Connor had become an important ecclesiastical centre for the mid-Antrim kingdom of Uí Thuirtre As Connor entered the medieval period the parish was centered on the new Cathedral that was becoming increasingly import as the seat of a bishopric whose authority covered both native and Norman territory. Connor itself was becoming a significant point of contact between the Gaelic Culture of Uí Thuirtre and the recently arrived Normans whose local centre of influence was just to the south at the town of Antrim. This meeting of cultures encouraged trade and the market at Connor developed as a trading centre for both Norman and Gael. This lead to the growth of a populous town of traders and secular craftsmen. 

Connor was pivotally important to the O’Flynn Kings of Uí Thuirtre A strong castle was constructed here. This castle effectively acted as an anchor for the defense of the southernmost frontier of Uí Thuirtre against pressures from the Norman settlement at Antrim, and despite the presence of strong Norman baronies to north and south, the kingdom of Uí Thuirtre would be the only Gaelic Kingdom in County Antrim to successfully resist the Normans. The Castle seems to have been part of a defensive system and may have provided a citadel for the town itself. Its proximity to the cathedral suggests that the original builders were constructing a place of strength employing part of the outer cashal of the ancient monastery. The O’Flynn kings of Uí Thuirtre are also traditionally said to have  constricted significant stone and earth defenses around the wider settlement in this period, although nothing vivible now survives of this. 

Certainly Connor was growing at this time. Preceptor Fitzgerald’s late nineteenth century account mentions the pavements of buried streets that were frequently discovered in the fields around the village during ploughing. Fitzgerald suggests a possible site a quarter of a mile south east of this church as the main part of what must have been developing into a large medieval town. This would have been the non-ecclesiastical village of traders, spreading to the west of modern parkgate road over the land between the Old Fort and the Connor Burn by Stock Bridge. The Connor Burn itself must have provided the very necessary water supply for a thriving village.  

Intriguingly, Fitzgerald also tells us that: “There have been recently laid bare on the Cross Hill the remains of stones elaborately carved, with the rich interlacing that evidence the genius of Celtic art, and paneled into sculpturings of archaic processional figures.” Cross Hill’s rise lies across and east of the Steeple road as it runs out of Kells.  The modern road runs along what would have been the route of the ancient the slighe miodhluachra. While these may possibly have simply been stones from Kells Abbey, taken for use in constructing a later secular building at Cross Hill, the use of “Cross” in a place name occasionally signals the existence of an early church at many other sites. It is  just possible that yet another ecclesiastical building of which no trace now remains may have been situated here, at the western parameter of the secular city. 

This golden age of growth and cultural cross fertilization ended when Edward Bruce sacked and burnt Connor on 10th September 1315 following the destruction of the Norman garrison of the town in an engagement at the Scots siege camp a mile north of the ford on the Kellswater by Kells Abbey.

This destruction of Connor in 1315 was followed by a period of rapid decline. Both the Kingdom of Uí Thuirtre and the Norman earldom of Ulster failed to recover from the devastations of the Bruce wars. This process of urban decay was completed by the Black Death that decimated the population of the area. This weakness was soon noted and both the Normans and the O’Flynn were driven from their lands by the expansion across the Bann of invaders who would become the Ui Neills of Clandeboye. 

Although the survival of the shell of the Romanesque cathedral into the nineteenth century argues against any serious damage to its structure by Edward Bruce or the UiNeill, the once wealthy chapter of Connor was now so impoverished by these wars that it was unable to support a clerical establishment on its own and was united again with the see of Down in 1441. 

REFORMATION AND THE SIXTEENTH CENTURY

In 1536 Henry VIIIs Viceroy Lord Gray, against strenuous opposition, forced a bill through the Dublin Parliament making the King Supreme head of the Church in Ireland, as had already been done in England. The following year a Monasteries and Twentieths bill was also enacted. This legislation initiated the confiscation of Irish monastic property, an activity similar to the great dissolution of the monasterys that had already been carried out in England. In February 1539 a royal commission was established in Ireland which over succeeding years systematically dissolved monastery after monastery throughout Ireland and seized their lands and possessions.  

In Down and Connor this Commission began its work in 1541. The dissolution of all the houses of the religious orders in Down and Connor was completed two years later in 1543. The Bishop of  the diocese, Eugene Magennis (Eoghan Mag Aonghusa), had already willingly conformed to Henry’s religious settlement and there was no organized resistance to the commissions work. On Candlemas, 1542, Abbot Murtough MacAnnullowe surrendered the Abbey of Kells to the commissioners, ending a tradition of monastic life in the area that had continued across more than a thousand years. 

Bishop Magennis’s acknowledgment of royal supremacy ensured that he successfully retained his Bishopric under four Tudor monarchs. Having survived the uncertainties of Henry and his son Edward VIs reigns, Maginnis successfully weathered Mary’s return of all of her kingdoms to Catholicism by his willing re-conversion, only to discover that he was again a reformer when Elizabeth ascended the throne. Magennis died in 1563, but his erratic line of absentee successors at least ensured that a formal continuity of holy orders in the Down and Connor diocese was continued down into the new reformed Church.  The Cathedral of Connor became formally a protestant church, while two successions of bishops were continued seperatly by royal and papal appointment through the final years of the 16th century.

JAMES I AND THE RESTORATION OF THE SEE OF CONNOR

With the accession of King James I, plans were set in motion to restore the full ecclesiastical organization of the Church in Ireland which had languished under his predecessor, Elizabeth. 

James’s first Bishop of Connor, appointed in 1607, was a fellow Scot, John Todd. Sir James Ware later claimed Todd was a lapsed Jesuit. At the time of Todd’s elevation the see of Connor had been effectively vacant for half a century, with the appointees to the Diocese during Elizabeth’s reign usually remaining absentees. Thus when Todd set out to re-organise the diocese, he found little in the way of opposition to his plans. The nine years war had taken its toll. The churches of Connor were mostly in ruins, with very few resident clergy. 

In 1609 King James issued a charter creating new foundations for the dioceses of Down and Connor and Dromore.  The charter envisaged separate chapters for the cathedrals of each diocese. Each chapter was to have a Dean, Arch deacon, Chancellor, Precentor, and Treasurer, with prebendaries. With this charter the Cathedral of Connor received the name it retains to this day, St. Saviour’s, a dedication of the building to Christ as Saviour of Mankind. 

 Many of the appointees to the newly constituted cathedral chapters were related to Bishop Todd. The Dean of Dromore was William Todd who also held the precentorship of Connor. The Archdeacon of Connor was Nicholas Todd, while the treasurer of Connor was Samuel Todd. The Chancellor of Down was William Worsley, bishop Todd's brother-in-law. The treasurership of Down, Bishop Todd kept for himself. Todd had begun to loot rather than develop his charge. He continued about six years as bishop, before fleeing the country in early 1611os/12ns to avoid charges of gross malpractice. His conspicuous corruption had shocked an age that very difficult to shock in these matters.

REBELLION AND RESTORATION

The Cathedral building at Connor had remained in a condition of some disrepair across the early period of the plantation. It was roofed with thatch, and so the fabric appears to have been protected from the elements, but little else was done to repair the neglect of almost a century. 

Any possibility of the cathedral  receiving attention was delayed by the systematic plundering of the diocese by the king’s first two bishops, Todd and his immediate successor James Dundas, who continued Todd’s blatant policy of exploitation for about 18 months. With the elevation of Robert Echlin as Bishop in 1613 tremendous efforts were made to counter this corruption and to begin rebuild the proper work of the diocese. Echlin was succeeded on his death in 1635 by the energetic Henry Leslie who promptly surrendered his other preferements to concentrate on his responsibilities as Bishop of Connor. As a passionate adherent of Bramhill’s Laudian high-church policies in Church of Ireland Leslie quickly came into conflict with his clergy in the parishes of both Connor and Down, many of whom were Scots Calvinists. 

In 1641 the great Rebellion broke out and Leslie was forced into exile. His Cathedral at Connor was burned in the wars that followed. The return of peace in the 1650s brought little respite. The Church of Ireland may have been disestablished by the triumphant Commonwealth of England, but the Calvinists gained little also, faring little better in their demands for a Covenant Church as a general loathing of the Scots of the north characterized the policies of Cromwell’s protectorship. Connor’s Prebendary the Rev. James Watson managed to survive, perhaps even thrive, through these changes. Watson was re-licensed as a ‘Preaching Minister’ for Connor under the new administration with a pension of £50 per annum.  The Bishop of Connor, Henry Leslie returned from exile in the late 1650s and attempted to carry out his ministry, despite the strict penal laws the Commonwealth imposed on members of the Church of Ireland. We hear that Leslie preached in Hillsborough in 1659.  The title page of the printed version of his sermon describes Leslie as “maugre all anti-Christian opposition, Bishop of Down and Connor.”  His title would have been considered utterly illegal at this date.
The restoration of king Charles II failed to improve matters for the cathedral of St Saviours. Connor’s status declined even further with Charles’s new Charter, which in 1662 re-sited of the Cathedral of the Connor Diocese at Viscount Killultagh’s growing town of Lisngarvy (modern Lisburn). However, the officer holders of the chapter for both Down and Connor continued for a time to be installed in the shells of the old medaeval cathedrals. Notably, Jonathan Swift preached and read the service of his appointment as Prebendary of Kilroot at St Saviours on 28th April 1695. 

Although the ruined Cathedral building at Connor now became the parish church for the  Episcopalians of Connor itself, little effort was made to repair the destruction wrought during the rebellion. The shell of the building remained open to the elements and only the southern transept was re-roofed with thatch and used as the parish church. This arrangement continued throughout the eighteenth century. The major change would have been the great shrinking of the church’s congregation due to the removal of the Calvanists within the congregation to worship a separate Presbyterian institution. The successful transformation of the Church of Scotland from an Episcopal to a Presbyterian church during the revolution of 1688 had consolidated a move towards a completely separate Presbyterian establishment that had begun in the 1640s with the Solumn League and Covenant. Provision was made for the much more numerious decenters and through the eighteenth century the Mansion house erected by Dr Alexander Colville at the Old Fort following his appointment as Preceptor of Connor in 1628 was used by Presbyterian congregation of Connor as a session house. This building was possibly what is described as “the Bishop’s house” on Petty’s Down Survey map of 1658/9 where it is shown south east of the ruined shell of St Saviour’s cathedral on the map.

EARLY NINETEENTH CENTURY RE-BUILDING OF 

THE CHURCH BY BISHOP ALEXANDER

The long peace of the eighteenth century proved a period of growth for Connor and Kells. The Millar brothers of Ross Lodge worked steadily to develop a commercial brown Linen Industry in the area from the 1740s. Forty years on they had built numerous linen works along the Kellswater between the townlands of Ross and Kildrum. The erection of beetling mills and linen greens with the subsequent growth of the local population, necessitated much building work and at a time when transporting quarry stone was difficult and very expensive both the ruined Abbey and the Cathedral were steadily plundered for possible building material. With this steady removal of stone for secular building purposes the shells of both the cathedral and the abbey at Kells became at last ruins. 

By the early 19th the deterioration of the Cathedral ruin was glaringly obvious. The need to reconsider an ad-hoc arrangement whereby a south transept of the cathedral had been kept in some repair as a parish church was at last recognized. The Bishop, Nathaniel Alexander, decided that a new church building was now required  The foundation stone for Alexander’s new church was laid in 1811 and was the building was consecrated in 1813, the year the Bishop’s son, the Rev. Robert Alexander succeeded Charles Douglas as Rector and Prebendary of Connor. 

The floor plan of this new Gothic church was built directly over that part of the foundations of the old cathedral that was still in use. The northern wall and eastern gable of the new church were built on the original southern transept of the old cathedral. The new building accordingly incorporated part of the fabric of the ancient walls but as the new building would be a simple rectangular hall, which would cover considerably less space than the ancient structure, other walls of the ruined cathedral were mined out to provide building material.  The intractable stones blasted with gunpowder. Much of the main body of the old cathedral vanished, including the western wall with its rich Romanesque portal. The stump of the ancient round tower of the Dark Age monastery that stood fifty foot east of the modern east window may also have been destroyed during this preparatory site work. 

The new church was given a belfry tower that was battlemented with corner pinnacles and a corbelled cornice. The new church roof continued to be thatched at first and when it was finally slated later in the nineteenth century, the walls were raised to accommodate a new roof structure, as may be seen by the small band of darker stone just under the roofline. The early nineteenth century Episcopalian congregation of Connor numbered some thirty families but the new church was optimistically constructed to accommodate as many as 312 worshipers. 

The year after the churches’ consecration, Robert Alexander was nominated Archdeacon of Down. He was succeeded at Connor by Dublin man, Fielding Ould. During Oulds tenure as Rector other necessary work was carried out on the building. In 1820 a church bell was commissioned for the belfry and in 1823 a font was added. The church building itself was extended in 1826 to add a much-needed vestry sited just to the north west of the sanctuary. Its cost was £35.13s.00, which is still something of a bargain coming out as around £1500 in today’s money. 
Ould elected to be the first rector since Colvil to reside in Connor. His new Rectory or Glebe House was constructed some years after in 1820, and the succeeding Pretenders and Rectors of Connor would live in the village after this date. The board of First Fruits of the Church of Ireland had made a gift of £40.00 for the work in 1820, with a balancing loan of the same amount. In a rationalization of the Connor Glebe lands the site of the old session house in the grounds of the Old Fort was reclaimed from the Presbyterian congregation.  The Minister of the day, the flamboiant Dr Henry Henry, collected funds to build the first of the three Presbyterian churches that would succeed one another over the years, standing just yards from the site of the old session house at the junction of Parkgate Road and Carncome road. Ould’s successor, the Reverend John Hobson enlarged and extended the Rectory and laid out a garden just before James Boyle’s ordinance survey memoir of 1835 was written, where the Rectory is described as “a nice residence modern and two storey.”

The church was again extended in 1870 by the Rev. Walter Johnston to include the Northern transept we see, which may have re-opened the old round Romanesque arch that had marked the entrance of the cathedral’s ancient south transept. The area covered by this new north transept would have marked the crossing from the nave of the old cathedral to the choir and site of the alter at the eastern end of the vanished building. Today the surviving portion of the ancient high cross of the monastery stands at what would have been the centre of the ancient cathedral building. 

A watch or corpse house as constructed probably in the 1830s to the north east of the vestry to accommodate the storage of bodies at a time when they were in danger from the Resurrectionists who disinterred the corpses and sold them to medical schools. A local doctor acted as an agent for such transactions and a century ago the story of a famous trick played on the doctor was still well known. A local boy was made up as a corpse and his friends attempted to sell him. Thinking the doctor had left the room at one point he whispered “don’t sell me too chape boys,” to the doctors surprise.

Fitzgerald and Carmody

Connor had long attracted antiquarian interest. The early nineteenth-century Ossianic enthusiast Hugh Campbell’s attempts to identify sites mentioned in MacPherson’s Ossianic poems with places in Ulster, romantically identified Connor with Fingal’s capitol, Temora. Campbell speaks of “the ruins of Connor Palace, (the ancient Temora).” And describes how “on proceeding to the foot of Cairn-jerie, and Tardree, I discovered the mossy ruins of a time-worn castle of extensive dimensions, at the ancient city of Connor”
In 1878 the parish of Connor received its first significant antiquarian, Rector, James Gerald Fitzgerald. Fitzgerald was profoundly influenced by the antiquarian movement that developed through the work of antiquarians such as Petrie and O’Curry. On coming to Connor in 1878 Fitzgerald soon recognized the precarious condition of the historical remains throughout his parish and began the process of noting and conservation that has encouraged the preservation of much of the heritage of the twin villages. He saved the base of the ancient High Cross against local opposition. Although he published nothing himself, his work in assisting the antiquarian Lavens Ewart was incorporated in Ewart’s Handbook of 1886. 

Fitzgerald was succeeded in 1898 by another antiquarian, William Patrick Carmody. Carmody’s antiquarian work on the Connor Ogam stones was published in The Ulster Journal of Archaeology.  Both he and his brother Samuel Carmody, rector of nearby Craigs, were, as antiquarian researchers, active members of the Irish Royal Academy.

Carmody tackled several contentious issues during his period as rector. The graveyard around the church had become seriously overcrowded with centuries of burials. New interments needed to be buried so close to the surface that they were becoming a major health hazard. When attempts were made to discontinue  burials on the site until a solution might be found, rioting broke out and numerous people were fined for public order offences. The opening of a new cemetery to the north of the church eventually took the pressure of these old burial plots around the church. 
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TWENTIETH CENTURY CONNOR

During Carmody’s period as rector the Glebe House began to show signs of its speedy construction in Ould’s time. It had been built originally on a very tight budget and the shortcomings of the work were now show. Connor had a small congregation and had trouble raising any funds for the maintenance and repair of the rectory over and above the expenses of the Church building itself.  

When Oliver White Clarke succeeded Carmody in 1904 the rectory was notably leaking. Clarke, the 28 year old son of a Fermanagh solicitor, was reasonably well off and used his own money for all necessary repairs until his retirement in 1949. Clarke also used his own money to balance the annual accounts of his church rather than appealing to his parishioners for funds. I’ve written something elsewhere of Oliver Clarke’s active involvement in the Ulster Covenant and his role driving the first car into Larne the night of the Larne gun running, but one story is worth adding. The rifles Rev. Clarke collected at Larne are supposed to have eventually been stored within the church itself for a while, noticeable within their protective Linen covers which were stamped with their contents’ description in clear Gothic lettering denoting their origin in the German Empire. 

Clarke was rector of Connor for forty-five years. With Oliver Clarke’s retirement in 1949, we are brought just within the range of the vivid living memories of local people, and this seems as correct a place as any to end a talk on the history of Connor Church. Thank you. 

ANTIQUARIANISM IN CONNOR & KELLS
Connor and Kells with their adjacent townlands appear to have been a centre of habitation from the earliest times. Nineteenth century writers describe a rich harvest of pottery, flint arrowheads and bronzes raised by ploughing. However the importance of such finds was only realized from the middle of the nineteenth century and much was lost or discarded. In common with many of the other antiquarian sites throughout Ireland, the Abbey and Cathedral had provided a ready source of cut stone for the needs of eighteenth and early nineteenth century house and road construction. Elaborately craved stones found on Cross Hill with Celtic interlacing, showing archaic processional figures were used to line drains and as hardcore for roads. 

The early Christian souterrians running under the graveyard were described for the first series Ulster Journal of Archaeology by the architect John Lanyon in 1858.

The first Rector of the Parish, the Rev. James G. Fitzgerald, took a personal interest in the history and antiquities of the twin villages. His summary in 1888 laments the loss of much of what had been discovered in the area during earlier centuries. During his twenty years of tenure he ensured that this began to be remedied. Early in the 1880s Fitzgerald’s friend Robert Brown of Kildrum discovered a cross incised stone at Chapelfield. Of an early date, and possibly originating from Kells Abbey, the stone had been employed as a penal alter during the eighteenth century. Fitzgerald ensured that it came to the attention of scholars, and ensured its survival as part of the collection of the old Ulster Museum. 

Connor was fortunate that the next Rector of St Saviour’s, William Patrick Carmody (Rector, 1898-1904), had a passionate interest in antiquarianism and many items such as the Connor Ogam stones and the high cross. 

THE SOUTERRAINS IN CONNOR CHURCHYARD

A number of early Christian period souterrains, locally called ‘caves’ or ‘coves’ were situated in the monastic present, which had become the burial ground of St Saviour’s. These were recorded before the burial ground was

Four of the souterrians were situated in the southwest part of the graveyard just off the lane leading to St Saviour’s church, while the fifth was on the far side of the Connor burn just by the roadway. They were entered by low narrow passages about 18 inches square. 

CONNOR HIGH CROSS
The High Cross dates from the period of the early monastic settlement at Connor. In its original state it would have been a ringed Celtic cross surmounting a tall shaft, standing within the walled enclosure of the ancient monastery.  Only the lower portion of the central shaft now remains. This is four foot in height and one foot two inches across. The carvings on the face depict Aaron and Hur supporting the arms of Moses, a figure that will be of some interest to Freemasons, and the judgment of Solomon. 

In Rev. Fitzgerald’s time it had been employed as a grave marker for a local family. Intent on the preservation of the relic, Fitzgerald removed it to the Church, but outraged family members entered the church at night and broke the stone. The fragments were re-assembled by Fitzgerald, who removed them to the more secure basement of the church, where he developed a collection of those other carved stones which were brought to his notice.  The cross shaft stands today in the northern transept of the church. 

CONNOR OGHAM STONES

Ogham (pronounced “OM”) is an ancient alphabet developed before the 5th century that was employed in the writing of early Irish. Structurally it uses groups of strokes, numbering from one to five and placed either above, under or on both sides of a continuous line in order to represent individual letters. Ogham was used on memorial stones for the inscription of names. 

The Connor Ogham stones were the first of their kind to be discovered in the north of Ireland. They were discovered in 1898 by Rev. Carmody, on farmland just south-east of Connor in the townland of Carncombe. The inscribed stones may originally have been upright memorial stones that were re-used for the roofing of an early Christian souterrian. The inscriptions differed from many other ogham inscriptions. They were very faint and accurate decipherment was problematic. Their discovery attracted considerable interest and five articles were written as scholars argued as to the translation of the words. 
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� Saints day 3rd September.


� Dun Ceithirn , the Giant’s Sconce, Dunboe, Co. Derry, is mentioned in Annals of the Four Masters by O’Donnovan.


� Nessa daughter of Conchaidh of the clan Dal Ceithirn. The founder of the clan, Cethern macFintan was a Red Branch Knight mentioned in the Tain whose intervention saved CuChullan as he lay wounded after his combat with Ferdia, but only at the cost of his own life. 


� The tradition Fitzgerald drew on may have been the particular memories of the oldest inhabitants of Kells and Connor in the 1880s who may have remembered the carved stones left during the work of demolition at both abbey and cathedral sites in the early years of the nineteenth century.


� John Lanyon, eldest son of Sir Charles Lanyon, Antrim coast road, Glendun Viaduct, Palm house and Queens University, Sinclair Seamens church and much of Belfast. Johna was founder with his father of lanyon, Lynn and Lanyon. 
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